${\bf Studienabschlussarbeiten}$

Faculty of Social Sciences



UNSPECIFIED

El Ghali, Nadia: Indirekte Kriegsführung

Bachelor, Summer Semester 2023

Faculty of Social Sciences UNSPECIFIED UNSPECIFIED

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

https://doi.org/10.5282/ubm/epub.94581



LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

GESCHWISTER-SCHOLL-INSTITUT FÜR POLITIKWISSENSCHAFT





2022

Nadia El Ghali

Indirekte Kriegsführung

Bachelorarbeit bei Prof. Dr. Bernhard Zangl 2022

Table of Contents

A Introduction	1
3 Theoretical Framework	2
I. Indirect Governance in Armed Conflict	3
II. Hypotheses	6
C Research Design	9
I. Method and Data	9
II. Case Selection	10
III. Operationalization, Thresholds and Dichotomization	12
D csQCA of Indirect Governance in Armed Conflict	17
I. Raw Data and Coding	17
II. Solving Contradictions and Simplification	21
III. Minimization and Results	23
IV. Interpretation of Results	26
V. Implications and Limitations of Results	31
E Conclusion	33
F Bibliography	35
G Appendix	43
H Eigenständigkeitserklärung	47

A Introduction

Since Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 and the subsequent resistance by Ukrainian forces, war is once again on the frontpages in Europe. As devastating and horrible as this conflict is, it is also an exception for an ongoing trend in armed conflict – indirect warfare. Indeed, the Russo-Ukrainian War started in this very same way, with the Russian Federation (not so) indirectly supporting the rebels in Eastern Ukraine, to achieve Russian interests and goals in the region without having to intervene directly with their own troops. So, while this is currently not the case anymore, indirect warfare has been increasingly used by states in general after 1945 (Salehyan 2010, 499). Especially big powers like Russia or the United States of America (USA/U.S.) have engaged in sponsorship of opposition groups or rebel forces to achieve their interests. Examples would be the previously mentioned sponsorship of Ukrainian separatists by Russia or the U.S.-support for the Contras in Nicaragua. As this decline in direct interstate war seems to be ongoing, it is important to investigate the reasons behind the governmental decision to delegate fighting to rebel groups. If big powers continue to wage war indirectly, there are many implications for the future of warfare in general, especially if this means that in some cases indirect warfare can turn into to direct warfare again. These implications for civilians and international security make it important to develop a deeper understanding of a state's decision to wage war indirectly.

In order to do so, research on indirect warfare has drawn on Principal-Agent Theory to explain states' decision to support rebel groups (Salehyan et. al 2014; Salehyan et al 2011; Salehyan 2010; Byman and Kreps 2010). Generally, a state (*principal*) delegates the conduction of warfare to a rebel group (*agent*) to save costs and employs control mechanism to make sure the rebel group keeps acting in line with the state's goals (Byman and Kreps 2010). But this approach in unable to explain the varying degree of control states have over their respective agents/rebel groups. For example, the United States were very closely involved with the mission planning for the Contras in Nicaragua (Hoekstra 2021) but only gave material support to the Forces Armeés du Nord (FAN) in Chad (May 1988). Drawing on the literature on indirect governance, scholars have tried to explain this variance of control (Tamm 2020; Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022). If a state exerts hard control mechanisms (e.g., U.S. and Contras) it is *delegating*, if it exerts softer/no control mechanisms (e.g., U.S. and FAN) it is *orchestrating*. Indirect Governance Theory as well as Principal-Agent-Theory expect hard control mechanisms to be more likely if a state has more capabilities to do so (e.g., bigger military or financial resources), whereas soft control mechanisms are due to states being incapable of hard

control mechanisms because of a lack of resources, not a lack of willingness on the state's part (Abbot et al 2015a, 2015b; Salehyan 2010). Empirically though, we see variance in the mode of indirect governance and the control mechanisms imposed by big powers even though the resources for hard control mechanisms stay the same, as seen in the U.S. examples above. Some scholars have even found that big financial and military resources make soft control mechanisms more likely (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022), which contradicts the initial expectations of both strands of literature. This puzzle thus leads to the following question: *When do big powers delegate or orchestrate to rebel groups?*

To answer this question, I am conducting a crisp-set Qualitative Comparative Analysis (csQCA) of sixteen cases where the USA supported rebel groups in armed conflict. This research design helps to determine and to theorise the necessary and sufficient conditions for a specific mode of indirect governance. The independent variables that are theorized to have an influence on the governmental decision on a mode of indirect governance are (1) the *distance* between rebel group and big power, (2) the *number of actors* involved in the conflict, (3) *goal convergence* and (4) the *saliency* of the conflict. In 11 out of 16 cases a combination of the geographical proximity between big power and rebel group and the number of actors involved in the scope of the proposed variables the following theoretical framework and hypotheses will be focused on explaining the state's decision on the mode of indirect governance as this is the primary concern for the puzzle that was laid out above. So, while characteristics of certain rebel groups or actor complexity also influence the decision on indirect governance (Salehyan et. al 2011; Abbot et al 2020b) an additional focus would go over the limits of the intended research design and scope for this thesis.

This thesis will be structured as follows: First, the theoretical framework, concepts and the proposed hypotheses will be laid out. Afterwards I will show my research design, case selection and data which will then be used to conduct the csQCA in the next chapter. This will also entail a theoretical interpretation and discussion of the obtained results particularly in relation to the proposed variables in the beginning. Finally, a conclusion will bind all parts together.

B Theoretical Framework

State-sponsorship of rebel groups has been extensively researched. By drawing on Principal-Agent-Theory (P-A), scholars have argued, that delegation to rebel groups reduces the extensive

costs associated with war (Salehyan 2010; Salehyan et. al 2011; Byman and Kreps 2010). These include casualties and military resources, but also governance costs of an occupied territory, especially, after the conflict has ended (Salehyan 2010). Furthermore, states are less likely to be internationally condemned and can, to an extent, avoid blame for a certain conflict (Salehyan 2011), while gaining political or technical expertise (Byman and Kreps 2010) or strategic advantages and bargaining power (Maoz and San-Akca 2012; Bapat 2011). To make sure that the rebel groups are acting in the state's interests, different control mechanisms are employed (Byman and Kreps 2010; Salehyan 2010). However, the literature fails to differentiate between varying intensity of external state control and states are expected to use all the control mechanisms they can employ. This assumption can thus not explain why the United States only channelled material support through other countries to aid UNITA in Angola in the 1980s (Hoekstra 2018) but even deployed Special Army Forces in Afghanistan to help with and control the Northern Alliance's fight against the Taliban in the early 2000s (Peltier 2005). So, while Byman and Kreps (2010) argue that control mechanisms may be decreased if both parties have converging interests, this is not seen as a different form of indirect warfare.

To close this gap in the literature and to find a solution to the empirical puzzle, the following theoretical framework and hypotheses will additionally draw on indirect governance theory by Abbot et al (2020a, 2015a, 2015b) to further develop the insights by the literature on indirect warfare. Central to the decision on the mode of indirect governance is the Competence-Control Trade-off (Abbot et. al 2020b). This means, that a governor "can obtain either high competence or strong control, but not both" (Ibid, p. 5). To fully tap into the capabilities of an intermediary (i.e., expertise, credibility, legitimacy, and operational capacity) the governor often has to eschew hard control mechanisms (Abbot et al 2020b). These control mechanisms are still very costly, so the literature – like Principal Agent Theory – expects only those states with big financial and military resources to employ them (Abbot et. al 2015b, 2020a; Salehyan 2010; Salehyan et. al 2011). The following theoretical framework and hypotheses will thus try to explain when big powers delegate or orchestrate to rebel groups.

I. Indirect Governance in Armed Conflict

For this analysis, a rebel group will be defined as a primarily militarily organized group of people that resorts to violent means to achieve their mostly political objectives vis-à-vis an at least somewhat legitimized government over a period of time. This also includes armed wings of political parties as well as military dissidents. This definition combines previous

conceptualizations by San-Akca (2009) and Cunningham et al (2013), to have it be as concise as possible while also being able to account for the broad variance in non-state actors that have been supported by the United States. As the mode of indirect governance (and the degree of control) varies for each rebel group that is supported, they pose different advantages and disadvantages for a state (Tamm 2020; Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022). Depending on its individual interests and the calculation of the Competence-Control Trade-off (Abbot et al 2020b), delegation or orchestration of a rebel group is more likely.¹

Delegation

If a state decides to delegate, essentially enacting a Principal-Agent relationship, it will *grant* authority to the rebel group on a contractual basis (hard ex-ante control), while also being able to use hard control mechanisms (hard ex-post control). This works, because the state can credibly threaten to remove the authority (e.g., in the form of sanctions), if the rebel group does not act the way it is supposed to, as the latter relies on that authority. At the same time, the state can monitor the actions of the rebel group, which provides enough information about its actions, which gives them leverage to use harder control mechanisms.

This means, that a state is more likely to delegate if it places more emphasis on controlling the rebel group. These harder control-mechanisms include ex-ante controls like training or even indoctrination of the rebel troops (Byman and Kreps 2010), as well as creating safe havens, but also ex-post controls like monitoring the rebel's activities (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022; Byman and Kreps 2010) or being involved in mission control. Since it can always credibly threaten to take away the support, which is crucial for the rebels, there is a huge incentive for the rebel group to keep in line with the state's goals. Even if the rebel group's goals diverge from those of the governor, the state can coerce them to comply. Due to the Competence-Control Trade-off this often means compromising on certain competencies (e.g. the legitimacy of a rebel group or their operational capacity) (Abbot et al 2020b), but a state might be willing to do that in order to have a strong position vis-à-vis the agent. The information regarding the rebel group and the control mechanisms that the sponsor has might be crucial in winning the conflict. Acquiring such information and control mechanisms are often very costly, but big powers should have enough funds and personnel available to be able to manage those. Still, there are downsides to the decision to delegate. Byman and Kreps argue that state sponsors "face a trade-off between control and 'plausible deniability" (Byman and Kreps 2010, p. 14).

¹ The literature on indirect governance (Abbot et al 2020a, 2020b) further differentiates between co-optation and trusteeship, for the purpose of analysing indirect warfare this is not as relevant and will thus not be included.

This plausible deniability is more difficult to uphold if a state exercises hard control mechanisms over a rebel group. In most cases this means that it is obvious that the state is sponsoring a group, if they are also training and monitoring them at the same time. Public responsibility attribution is thus very likely. But states in general rely on rebel groups for their local legitimacy (Salehyan 2010), so a state cannot closely control a rebel group, without it losing some sort of legitimacy (Abbot et al 2015b, 2020b; Lake 2016). Big powers may have a huge negative impact on the perceived legitimacy of a rebel group, since their overall presence in the international system makes them seem "foreign" to the local population.

Orchestration

If a state decides to orchestrate it will draw on the already existing authority of a rebel group. It *enlists* this independent intermediary on a voluntary basis. This means that it relies on soft inducements, since it cannot credibly threaten to take away the rebel groups authority (Abbot et al. 2020b). Hence, a convergence of interests is very important, since soft inducements only work if both already share the same goals (Abbot et al. 2015a, 2015b).

A sponsor is more likely to orchestrate if the competence of the rebel group is more important. This means that a state will engage in softer control mechanisms, like providing financial resources, while the rebel group can operate independently (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022). The state draws on an already autonomous rebel group for their capabilities. Since a state can only nudge the rebels into a certain direction once the resources are handed over and does not have any more information about whether the rebels are pursuing the desired goals, it must rely on the shared goals. Credible threats to take away the support are nearly impossible, since the state has basically no control mechanisms to ensure the rebels are acting in line (Abbot et al 2015b). This might be not that big of an issue for big powers, since they might still be able to credibly threaten to employ sanctions due to their status. Furthermore, orchestration also poses different advantages for states. Due to the lack of any direct control mechanism, a state can easily deny any involvement in the conflict. If there are only financial or intelligence sources transmitted a state might be able to keep up the plausible deniability (Byman and Kreps 2010). Orchestration is also likely to solve the issue of perceived legitimacy (Abbot et al 2020b), since the state is not as deeply involved, the legitimacy of the rebel group stays intact (Salehyan et al 2011). Another reason to orchestrate might be to tap into specific combat or operational skills or extensive local knowledge about the terrain (Salehyan 2010; Tamm 2020), which can be gained from local rebel groups without investing time and effort. Particular niche rebel skills can then be used in order to win the conflict (Byman and Kreps 2010). Big powers might be interested in that, since they often have large conventional military capacities but no niche skills that are also valuable (Ibid). On top of these advantages, orchestration is also less costly, since it requires less control mechanisms compared to delegation. So, while states with big financial resources might be able to manage the costs associated with delegation, they are also interested in reducing those as much as possible.

II. Hypotheses

To explain when big powers delegate or orchestrate to rebel groups, the following section will draw on the theoretical framework to derive hypotheses about when a big power will choose either option. As both yield specific advantages and disadvantages, big powers as rational actors that aim at maximizing their utility, can either use more hierarchical control mechanisms or tap into the rebel groups competencies (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022). This trade-off, also known as the "Governor's Dilemma" (Abbot et al 2020a, 2020b), shapes the decision on the mode of indirect governance.

It might be easier for big powers to tap into the benefits of orchestration, without losing control over the rebel groups due to their position in the international system. Because of their general power they might be able to operate under a "shadow of hierarchy" (Héritier and Lehmkuhl 2008). This means that they can tap into the benefits of orchestration, like maintaining plausible deniability or smaller costs, while still being able to control the rebel group. This makes it easier to credibly threaten to take away their (meagre) support, due to their status in the international system (Ibid, p.2). Thus, hard control mechanisms will not be needed. This would mean that the governor's dilemma dissolves; a high degree of competence and a high degree of control can be maintained at the same time. In armed conflict this might only work, if this "shadow of hierarchy" is present in the conflict, since even the influence of a big power might have regional limits or might be stronger in different parts of the world. This means that, the geographically closer a rebel group is, the easier it should be for the state to control them and the further away a rebel group is the harder it is to substitute hard control mechanisms with the "shadow of hierarchy". In that case, threats by the big power are not credible. The geographically more proximate the rebel group, the more present is the shadow of hierarchy and the more credible are threats to take away support.

H1: Big powers are more likely to orchestrate (delegate), if the rebel group is geographically proximate (distant).

Secondly, states sponsor rebel groups because they have local legitimacy, credibility and/or key operational capacities (Byman and Kreps 2010; Salehyan 2010; Salehyan et al 2011). Legitimacy and credibility can only be maintained if the big power does not engage in hierarchical ex-post or ex-ante control mechanisms (Abbot et al 2020b). This is especially important in the context of big power sponsoring because their status in the international system might undermine the rebels' local legitimacy even more than other sponsorships would. Particularly when a conflict already has many parties involved, the legitimacy rebels bring to the table is crucial for winning the conflict, since those rebel groups at least have some part of the population on their side. In a conflict with many parties (e.g., a civil war in a failed state) inside knowledge about the other side or the terrain is very costly to acquire by oneself. Rebel groups already have that kind of knowledge (Salehyan et al 2011; Salehyan 2010), so states can draw on the existing knowledge by delegating certain tasks. Using harder control mechanisms (engaging in delegation) would mean that it would be harder to tap into these competencies of a rebel group. This operational capacity also means that a rebel group has a strong power to resist, affecting the kind of control a state can exercise, so delegation becomes less possible in the first place. A big power must then resort to soft inducements to maintain the effectiveness and to mitigate the risk of resistance (Abbot et. al 2020b). Another reason to orchestrate in a conflict setting with many actors is the possibility of credible threats (Abbot et al 2020a): It is easier for a state/big power to credibly threaten to take away their support because there are alternative rebel groups to sponsor. This is one of the only settings in which credible threats work without having to impose hard control mechanisms on the rebel group, which also means that the Competence-Control trade-off dissolves to some extent. Having many actors involved also means that it is easier to find a rebel group with aligned goals in the first place (see H3). Thus, a big power might be more drawn to orchestration in a conflict setting with many parties involved, to maintain the rebel groups legitimacy, benefitting from their operational capacity as well as being able to credibly threaten to take away their support.

H2: Big powers are more likely to orchestrate (delegate), if there are many (few) actors involved in the conflict.

Furthermore, the literature on indirect governance puts a convergence of interests at the centre for the decision on the mode of governance (Abbot et al 2015a, 2015b, 2020a, 2020b). If the governor and the intermediary have converging interests, orchestration becomes more likely, since only then soft inducements are sufficient. If there are no converging interests a big power needs to resort back to harder control mechanisms to make sure the rebel group stays in line. In

the setting of armed conflict those converging interests can have functional reasons, like just having the same enemy or more ideological beliefs like being anti-communist or wanting to install democratic institutions in a previously autocratic state. Both lead to goal convergence, which in turn makes orchestration more likely. For indirect warfare in particular a similar ideology might be very important since only functional goals may be too little insurance for the big power, as these can fluctuate more or change over the course of a dynamic conflict, whereas ideology should be more stable. Another point that may make goal convergence more likely are ethnic ties between the big power and the rebel groups as this may lead to more solidarity and makes ideological convergence more likely as well (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022; Byman and Kreps 2010; Maoz and San-Akca 2012). In the big power context this is quite improbable though, so ideological convergence should suffice as the state can also be certain that the rebel group acts in line and control mechanisms can be relaxed.

H3: Big powers are more likely to orchestrate (delegate) if the rebel group has a similar (contradicting) ideology.

Lastly, big powers are concerned with keeping their high status in the international system (Mearsheimer 2001). Being engaged in a conflict, even if it is just indirectly, always poses a certain risk to lose, which could lessen their relative "big power" status. This makes engaging in hierarchical control mechanisms more attractive to the state, even if that means that they must compromise on certain competencies (Abbot et al 2020b). This might be the case if a different big power or rival is also part of the conflict or supports the other side (Maoz and San-Akca 2012), as this adds a level of strategic saliency. The US then might be especially concerned if the opponent was the Soviet Union (during the Cold War) or a fundamentalist Islamic state (after 9/11). If the country in which the conflict takes place would fall into the hands of an opponent, which leads to a relative loss of power, this conflict becomes strategically salient. In this setting the utility of orchestration and soft control mechanisms might be outweighed by the utility of hierarchical oversight to make sure the rebel group does not lose the conflict. So, if a certain conflict is strategically salient, a state might opt for more hierarchical control mechanisms to ensure the rebel group stays in line. If a conflict is not important in that way, this reason to engage in harder control mechanisms (delegation) falls away, since then the costs of hierarchical control mechanisms are too high. The strategical unimportance of the conflict makes hierarchical control mechanisms less useful, especially if this means that the governor has to compromise on certain competencies as well.

H4: Big powers are more likely to orchestrate (delegate) if the conflict is strategically less salient (salient).

In sum, I propose four hypotheses with four independent variables that influence the mode of indirect governance a state may use in indirect warfare: (1) geographical distance, (2) the number of actors in a conflict, (3) goal convergence and (4) strategical saliency.

The following section will lay out the research design for the subsequent csQCA on indirect governance in armed conflict.

C Research Design

I. Method and Data

For my Bachelor-Thesis I am conducting a crisp-set Qualitative Comparative Analysis (csQCA). This method allows to find necessary and sufficient conditions for a certain outcome. QCA combines advantages of both qualitative or more case-oriented research as well as quantitative or more variable oriented research. This means that I will still be able to draw some generalisable results from my analysis, but these are more modest and context-sensitive than they would be using quantitative data alone. As it is very unlikely that only one condition influences the decision on the mode of governance, I will be looking at how a combination of all the conditions affects this outcome. These expected multiple causal paths fit very well with the general assumption that QCA is based on: conjunctural causation, meaning that different constellations of factors may lead to the same result. This leaves room for complexity and makes for a more "realistic" approach of the social world as causality is assumed to be context and conjuncture specific (Berg-Schlosser et al 2009). In my thesis I have opted for the "crispset" approach which uses Boolean Algebra to "minimize" the causal paths that are obtained through the case-oriented analysis and subsequent truth tables (Rhioux and de Meur 2009) to achieve a parsimonious formula that shows the combination of conditions that lead to the respective outcomes. This means that each variable proposed will be dichotomized to either be present [1] or absent [0], this dichotomization needs to fit with the hypothesised causal direction of each variable. If the presence of a variable is associated with orchestration, it will be coded as [1] and if its presence is associated with delegation, it will be coded as [0]. After each case is coded and dichotomized, they will be put into different groups based on their values for each condition to finally conduct the csQCA through a minimization process that uses Boolean Algebra. This yields a parsimonious but still generalisable result (Rhioux and de Meur 2009).

For my case-oriented research I relied on the "Dangerous Companions Dataset" (San-Akca 2016) as well as the External Support Dataset by the Uppsala Conflict Data programme (UCDP) (Högbladh et al 2011) to get a general overview over the cases and variables and then relied mostly on qualitative data in the form of scholarly journal articles as well as newspaper reports to acquire the elaborate data that was needed for the case coding. The first dataset aggregates international support of rebel groups or non-state actors that are involved in an armed conflict against one or several governments from 1922 - 2010. It has two parts, one concerned with the different forms of external state support, and one concerned with a profile for each rebel group with information on foundation year, objectives, and ideational characteristics. In addition to that it is also possible to sort the data by state, to get an overview which state supported which and how many rebel groups (San-Akca 2016). For my case selection, I mainly relied on the latter part to look at all rebel groups that were supported by the United States between 1922 and 2010 and chose the ones that best fit into the csQCA. As there are no rebel groups included that were supported by the United States before 1945 the examined time frame will mostly range from 1945-2010. The second dataset by the UCDP provides information on the existence, type, and provider of external support for all parties involved in the conflict between 1975 and 2009 (Högbladh et al 2011), there are two different variations of this dataset: one concerned with the primary warring parties and one better suited for more complex analyses of different supporters (Ibid). For the purpose of this csQCA I relied on the second alternative, the "Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset", as this made it possible to look at the type of support only the USA provided to a certain rebel group (Ibid). As both datasets are mostly intended for quantitative analysis, they did not provide the elaborate and "thick" data that was needed for my csQCA. Therefore I relied on qualitative data in the form of scholarly journal articles or newspaper reports, about U.S. rebel support to find out more about the nature of the conditions I proposed.

II. Case Selection

To conduct the csQCA I have selected 16 cases of rebel groups that were supported by the United States for at least one year since 1945. These cases were mainly drawn from the Dangerous Companions Dataset (San-Akca 2016). It differentiates between "active" and "de facto" support, but this was not as relevant for the case selection of this csQCA as it was mainly about finding rebel groups that had proven support by the United States, since the type of support had to be determined by qualitative literature anyway.

I decided to hold the big power stable to be able to measure the effect of the proposed variables, so that a variance of the governor will not change the effect of the independent variables. As the United States can undoubtedly be considered a big power in the international system all the proposed independent variables are present. Since the U.S. can also be seen as a representative for many Western states, the results obtained from this csQCA should at least be somewhat generalisable beyond the single big power that is examined here. Another reason for choosing the United States – as opposed to the Soviet Union/Russia – is the availability of data, as well as not having to account for the fall of the Soviet Union after 1991.² Thus, I will look at the following 16 rebels groups that have received support from the United States: Contras (FDN), National Union for the Independence of Angola (UNITA), Khmer People's National Liberation Front (KPNLF), National United Front for an Independent, Neutral, Peaceful and Cooperative Cambodia (FUNCINPEC), Forces Armées du Nord (FAN), People's Resistance Movement of Iran (Jondollah), People's Mojahedin of Iran (MEK/NLA), People's Defence Units (YPG), Jamiat-i-Islami, Hizb-i-Islami-yi, Northern Alliance, National Democratic Alliance (NDA/SPLA), Military in Chile, Permesta Movement, Libyan Rebel Movement and Kosovo Liberation Army (KLA). To achieve sufficient heterogeneity in these cases I have tried to be able to account for variance across time and across location as well as including cases with different outcomes. This is why I have included cases of conflicts that took place during the Cold War (e.g. Contras), right after the Cold War (e.g. KLA) and after 9/11 (e.g. Northern Alliance) as well as cases from every continent to have more typical and paradoxical cases included (Berg-Schlosser and de Meur 2009). A very prominent restricting factor in my case selection was the availability of data. Since I needed qualitative data in the form of news reports or scholarly journal articles, I had to review the case selection several times until I arrived at the current one, which is why some of the included rebel groups do not fit into the time frame of the dataset (San-Akca 2016) that was mentioned above and go beyond the year 2010. But as QCA is iterative by nature (Berg-Schlosser et. al 2009) this does not obstruct the quality of the research design but rather helps to find out more about the conditions and the universe of cases in general. Almost all cases are included in one or both datasets, the only exceptions are the People's Defence Units which was drawn from qualitative literature on state sponsorship of rebel groups (Byman 2013), the Military in Chile, which was drawn from CIA documents concerning covert involvement in Latin American States (Gustafson 2003) and the Libyan rebel movement which was also drawn from qualitative literature on U.S. support for rebel groups

 $^{^{2}}$ Nowadays, China could also be considered a "big power" but as their big power status has not been as constant in the time frame for this analysis, using China would not have been sensible.

(Schaller 2016). The lack of these cases in the datasets did not interfere with the general case research and coding since most of the coding process was based on qualitative literature. The next section will now show how the outcome and conditions will be operationalised based on the data that was just laid out.

III. Operationalization, Thresholds and Dichotomization

The first step in a csQCA is building a dichotomous truth table (Rhioux and de Meur 2009). To do that the conditions as well as the outcome need to be operationalised as well as dichotomized, which means that each case is attributed a [1] or a [0] value for the outcome as well as each condition, depending on whether they are present or absent. The dichotomization process in a csQCA is based on thresholds that should be based on natural gaps in the data distribution and should make theoretical and empirical sense (Ibid). Something that is very important in the dichotomization process is that every condition is coded in the right "direction", this means that their presence [1] should be associated with the [1] outcome.

The dependent variable/outcome in my csQCA is the mode of indirect governance (*INDGOV*)³: delegation or orchestration. For this analysis, the main difference between these lays in the degree of control the big power has over a certain rebel group. If the U.S. is delegating, they retain a considerable amount of control over the rebel group. This means that I looked at the type of support the U.S. gave to the rebel groups as well as how involved the US was with the organization of the rebel groups, relying on qualitative data. In this sense, I follow Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl (2022) in their operationalization of orchestration and delegation⁴, but I broaden their definition to make room for a deeper analysis since I do not only rely on quantitative datasets but also on qualitative literature for my coding. The reason for that being, that the databases concerned with external state-support do not provide data that is rich enough to account for the amount of control the USA exercised over a rebel group. Of course, this also makes the coding more objective than just relying on big quantitative datasets, but this is necessary in order to actually be able to know which mode of indirect governance was used by the United States.

³ As it is easier to refer to the conditions and the outcome with abbreviations in the software that will be used to conduct the csQCA, these abbreviations will be put in brackets when showing the operationalisation.

⁴ Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl (2022) code a case as orchestration if only material support was provided since this does not allow for hard ex-post control. A case was coded as delegation if a state provided additional support like training, as this allows the state to keep on controlling the rebel group. This data was drawn from the UCDP External Support Dataset (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2022).

So, since *delegation* means that the governor used hard ex-post and ex-ante control mechanisms as well as that the intermediary *derives* its authority (at least somewhat) from the governor (Abbot et al 2020b), a case will be coded as delegation if a combination of the following criteria applies: If the U.S. had a centralizing effect on the rebel group like it had with the Contras in Nicaragua (Hoekstra 2021), or was very closely involved with the organization of attacks or missions. This often means that American military personnel or the CIA were also involved in some part of mission control, like they were with the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan (Peltier 2005). Being closely involved with mission control also provides the rebel group with some form of authority from the United States which in turn points to delegation. Overall, for a case to be coded as delegation the U.S. needed to provide more than just material support and should be quite closely involved with the rebel group overall as this points to a considerable degree of control.

For a case to be coded as *orchestration*, the rebel group should rely on the United States mostly for funding and material support, like the FAN in Chad (May 1988). There should be no American personnel involved when it comes to the organizational aspects of missions or attacks, since the rebel group does not derive its authority from the governor, nor is it subject to hard ex-post or ex-ante control mechanisms (Abbot et al. 2020b). Since a big advantage of orchestration is the possibility of plausible deniability a case will also be coded as orchestration, if the type of support was channelled through other countries first, like the U.S. did with UNITA in Angola (Hoekstra 2018). Using other countries to covertly support a rebel group also means that it would be quite difficult for the U.S. to control the rebel group anyway. So, if there was overall not really a close involvement a case will be coded as [1] and a case of delegation will be coded as [0]. Thus, if a proposed condition is coded as [1] it is expected to lead to orchestration and if it is coded as [0] it is expected to lead to delegation. The four proposed conditions/independent variables⁵ are operationalised as follows:

The first condition refers to the *geographical distance* (DIST) between the U.S. and the rebel group, to measure the "shadow of hierarchy". I expect a state to orchestrate if the rebel group is closer to the United States. I measure said distance in kilometres (km) using Google Earth. Using the software, I tried to find the shortest distance between the rebel groups location and

⁵ QCA uses the term "condition" when referring to independent variables (Rhioux and de Meur 2009), this is why this term will additionally be used in the following sections.

the United States while still trying to have the data make empirical sense. This means that I did not define Hawai'i or Alaskan islands as a feasible U.S. location and concentrated on the mainland. Of course, this method is somewhat subjective and not based on completely "hard data" but since I also want to measure a perceived "shadow of hierarchy" I have quite a big margin of error, since a few 100km should not obstruct this perception. Table 1 shows the distribution of the variable on the y-axis. This variable ranges from around 2000km to 10.000km and there are not really any natural gaps where one could define a threshold (Rhioux and de Meur 2009).



Table 1 – Distance

The gap between 2000 and around 6000km would not make any empirical sense since the variable would not vary enough for conducting a csQCA and all cases except the Latin American ones would be put into the same group. Thus, there are two options left: There are two less obvious gaps in the data where the graph jumps up: (1) between around 7600 km and 8400 km and (2) the other one between around 8700 km and 9400. I will choose the first gap, since it is bigger. Plus, putting the threshold there means having most of the African countries coded closer to the US than countries in the Middle East. As this also means differentiation between different continents it makes sense to put the threshold there.⁶ Thus, the condition

⁶ In some cases (e.g. YPG or Northern Alliance) the United States used its own aircraft flown by army personnel, to aid the rebels. One could thus argue that this might make the perceived control stronger since the U.S. was actually present. This might be true but still I decided to not take this into account since most of those cases are considered "close" due to the threshold.

DIST will be coded as [1] if the country is less than 8400 km away from the US, and [0] if the country is further than 8400 km away.

The second condition I propose refers to the *number of actors* involved in the conflict (*ACT*). I generally expect a big power to be orchestrating if there are many actors involved since it is (1) easier to find an actor that has similar goals, (2) it is easier to threaten the rebel group to take away the support since there are other valuable actors and (3) easier for an orchestrating big power to not interfere with the local legitimacy of a rebel group. For this variable I mainly relied on qualitative data, like journal articles, concerned with a specific conflict and counted the actors that were mentioned in the literature. Obviously, this is not perfect since the literature might omit certain actors that were not deemed "important" enough or were not relevant for the research in that case. To control for that I relied on at least 2 different sources per case. Table 2 shows the distribution of this variable, with the number of actors shown on the y-axis. Concerning the threshold there was no natural gap with this variable either, but in most cases, there were either 3 or less actors or 5 or more actors involved (see Table 2). Therefore, I decided to put the threshold at 5. This choice is also supported by the average (4.8) and the median (5). Thus, a case will be coded as [1] if there are 5 or more actors involved and as [0] if there are less than 5 actors involved.





The third condition measures the *goal convergence* of governor and intermediary (*CONV*). I expect the big power to orchestrate if there is goal convergence since then harder control mechanisms will not be necessary because the rebel group has the same goals as the big power. In other analyses of indirect warfare through rebel groups, goal convergence is often measured

through ethnic ties between the state and the rebel group (Heinkelmann-Wild and Mehrl 2021; Byman and Kreps 2010; Maoz and San-Akca 2012). Since this thesis uses the United States as its big power it is very unlikely that there are ethnic ties to the rebel group. Therefore, I decided to measure goal convergence through ideological convergence. I will not take functional goals into account, since it is quite common in a conflict to have the same "enemy" (e.g. wanting the incumbent to step down) but states and big powers in particular may have a heightened interest about the long term development of a certain country. This also means that only functional goals are insufficient over the long term because those goals are more likely to be realised if the state and the rebel group have the same or a similar ideology. In the case of the United States, I will code goal convergence to be present if the rebel group is anti-communist/Marxist, pro-democratic or generally western/liberal oriented and/or secessionist in the sense that they are pressing their right to self-determination. I will code goal convergence to be absent if the rebel group follows fundamental principles of Islam, if it is communist or follows a politically left ideology. If there is no coherent ideology existent, I will also code it as no convergence, since there is no reason to believe that the ideology of the rebel group was crucial in deciding the mode of indirect governance. This data was once again drawn from qualitative literature on each case as well as the Dangerous Companions Dataset (San-Akca 2016) as this provided data on the goals of the rebel group for at least some cases. Following the logic of dichotomization for a csQCA this variable will be coded as [1] if goal convergence is present and as [0] if goal convergence is absent.

The last condition I propose is the *strategic salience* (*SAL*) of a conflict. To code this variable, I once again looked at qualitative data about the conflict. If the rebel group that received support by the U.S. was fighting against the Soviet Union directly or against a different actor that was involved in the conflict but supported by the Soviet Union/Russia, I assume that is important for the U.S. to win this conflict since losing would also mean losing relative power vis-à-vis their adversary. I assume the same mechanism if the rebel group was fighting against a fundamentalist Islamic State (i.e., the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan), since the U.S. publicly waged their global "war on terror" after 9/11, which also meant that losing to a rebel group would most likely harm their relative power which in turn makes such a conflict strategically salient. Saliency is thus measured through the presence or absence of a different big power or the War on Terror in the conflict. Of course, there are other ways to measure strategic salience, but in a realist big power logic, the presence of a different big power should at least make a conflict more strategically salient than others. So, a case will be coded as [0] if the Soviet

Union/Russia was involved in the conflict or if it took place in the context of the war on terror and as [1] if that was not the case.

D csQCA of Indirect Governance in Armed Conflict

The following section will now be structured as follows: First I will lay out the raw data and the coding of the 16 rebel cases, that are part of the csQCA, then I will solve possible contradictions in the subsequent truth table and finally conduct the csQCA and interpret the results. This interpretation will on the one side try to unfold the causal mechanism and a causal explanation for when big powers decide to orchestrate or delegate and on the other side re-evaluate the hypotheses from the beginning.

I. Raw Data and Coding

After laying out the thresholds and dichotomization process it is now time to code the already researched Raw Data of each case into the csQCA typical binary code. To code all the 16 cases in a binary manner, I followed the framework that was laid out in the previous section. Table 3 shows all 16 cases in alphabetical order with their raw data and the respective qualitative sources this data was drawn from.

CASEID	INDGOV	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	References
Chile	Delegation	5700km	2	no	SU	Gustafson (2003); Shiraz (2011); Flynn (2014); Hersh (1974).
FAN	Orchestration	7676km	7	yes	NO	May (1988); Giroux et al (2009); Kelley (1985).
FDN	Delegation	1.770km	2	yes	SU	Hoekstra (2021); Beardsley and Skrede Gleditsch (2004).
FUNCINPEC	Orchestration	8367km	6	yes	SU	Menon (1986); Teik Soon (1982); Babcock et al. (1985).

Table 3 – Raw Data

Hizb	Orchestration	9624km	8	no	SU	Hughes (2008); Alexiev (1988); Coll (2004).
Jamiat	Orchestration	9624km	8	yes	SU	Hughes (2008); Alexiev (1988); Coll (2004).
JONDOLLAH	Orchestration	8366km	5	no	NO	Brown et al (2012); Asgharirad (2012); Reuters (2009); ABC News (2007); Perry (2012), Hersh (2008). (2008).
KLA	Delegation	6586km	3	no	NO	Craig (1999); Beaumont et al (2001); Bardos (2002); Webber (2009).
KPNLF	Orchestration	8367km	6	yes	SU	Menon (1986); Teik Soon (1982); Babcock et al. (1985).
Libya	Delegation	6700km	2	yes	NO	Emadi (2012); Myre (2014); Hosenball (2011); Sherwood (2011).
MEK	Orchestration	8366km	5	no	NO	Hersh (2008); Masters (2014); Cohen (2018); Goulka et al (2009); Piazza (1994); The Associated Press (2021); Khalaji (2008).
NDA/SPLA	Orchestration	9400km	6	yes	NO	Rolandsen (2005); Meteltis (2004); Hamilton (2011,2012); Collins (2007.

Northern Alliance	Delegation	9624km	4	no	WoT	CBS (2001); Cohen (2001); Peltier (2005); Bosin and Peceny (2011).
Permesta	Orchestration	8700km	3	yes	NO	Mann (1994); McMahon (1994).
UNITA	Orchestration	9.700km	3	yes	SU	Minter (1991); Hoekstra (2018); Wright (1989).
YPG	Delegation	2000km	7	yes	WoT	Byman (2013); Fumerton and van Wilgenburg (2022); Apuzzo and Mazetti (2016); Itani (2017); Ergun (2018); BBC (2017).

Source: Author's presentation

INDGOV corresponds to the outcome of this csQCA – the mode of indirect governance. DIST corresponds to the distance in kilometres between the U.S. and the rebel group. ACT shows the number of actors involved in the conflict and CONV shows whether there was ideological convergence between the U.S. and the rebel group. The last variable displayed is SAL, which corresponds to the saliency on the conflict, SU or WoT indicate that either the Soviet Union was involved with the other side or that the conflict took place in the greater scope of the War on Terror, if none of this was the case NO was displayed. CASEID shows the name of the 16 different cases. Since most names of the rebel groups are too long to fit into a simple table abbreviation are used.⁷

The next step in this csQCA is the dichotomization following the framework that was laid out in the previous section. Table 4 shows all 16 cases and the 4 variables as well as the outcome dichotomized. Something to look for is the sufficient variance in between each variable, for

⁷ Chile: Military in Chile; FAN: Forces Armées du Nord; FDN: Fuerza Democrática Nicaraguense; FUNCINPEC National United Front for an Independent, Neutral, Peaceful and Cooperative Cambodia; Hizb: Hizb-i-Islami-yi, Jamiat: Jamiat-i-Islami; JONDOLLAH: People's Resistance Movement of Iran; KLA: Kosovo Liberation Army; KPNLF: Khmer People's Liberation Front; Libya: Libyan Rebel Movement; MEK: People Mojahedin of Iran; NDA/SPLA: National Democratic Alliance; Northern Alliance: United Islamic National Front for the Salvation of Afghanistan; Permesta: Permesta Movement; UNITA: National Union for the Independence of Angola; YPG: People's Defence Units.

each condition there should be at least a third represented by either [1] or [0] (Rhioux and de Meur 2009).

Table 4 – Dichotomized Data

CASEID	INDGOV	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL
Chile	0	1	0	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1
FDN	0	1	0	1	0
FUNCINPEC	1	0	1	1	0
Hizb	1	0	1	0	0
Jamiat	1	0	1	1	0
JONDOLLAH	1	0	1	0	1
KLA	0	1	0	0	1
KPNLF	1	0	1	1	0
Libya	0	1	0	1	1
MEK	1	0	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	1	0	1	1	1
Northern					
Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
Permesta	1	0	0	1	1
UNITA	1	0	0	1	0
YPG	0	1	1	1	0

Source: Author's presentation, created with QCA-Add-In for Excel (Conqvist 2019a).

A first look at the data shows, that there are only 2 cases that correspond perfectly to the theory: FAN and the Northern Alliance, both show only [1] and [0] respectively for their outcome. But as I expect different combinations of conditions to lead to the same outcome, this first look only

underlines the fact that a csQCA is a valuable method for my research question. In ten out of 16 cases the United States orchestrated, this corresponds to 62.5% which also means that in 37.5% the U.S delegated to a rebel group, which works with the above-mentioned variance of cases. Every condition also shows a sufficient variance, so that it is possible to go onto the next step of the csQCA.

II. Solving Contradictions and Simplification

The next step will now be constructing a truth table from the raw data table. This shows the different configurations for each outcome that are present in the data, if some cases have the exact same configurations on the outcome and variables they are put into groups. A truth table also shows if there are any contradictions, meaning that if there are cases that have the same configuration of conditions but lead to a different outcome (Rhioux and de Meur 2009). These would have to be solved first before being able to use Boolean Algebra to minimize the results. Table 5 shows the truth table for this analysis. It was obtained using the QCA Excel tool (Cronqvist 2019).

CASEID	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	INDGOV
Northern Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
UNITA	0	0	1	0	1
Permesta	0	0	1	1	1
Hizb	0	1	0	0	1
JONDOLLAH, MEK	0	1	0	1	1
FUNCINPEC, Jamiat,					
KPNLF	0	1	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	0	1	1	1	1
Chile	1	0	0	0	0
KLA	1	0	0	1	0
FDN	1	0	1	0	0

 Table 5 – Truth Table

Libya	1	0	1	1	0
YPG	1	1	1	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1

Source: Author's presentation, created with QCA-Add-In for Excel (Cronqvist 2019a).

This Truth Table shows that there is still a considerable amount of heterogeneity, in the cases that were examined. Only five cases were grouped into two groups which both have orchestration as their outcome, these cases are Jondollah, MEK, FUNCINPEC, Jamiat and the KPNLF. Since none of the delegation cases have the exact same value for each condition, we can see that there are a lot more different combinations of conditions that lead to delegation, thus it is quite likely that the results are not very parsimonious. Something that is visible here, as well as in Table 4, is the fact that in some cases seemingly only one variable led to a change in the outcome. In the case of UNITA for example goal convergence seemed to have been a crucial factor in the decision to orchestrate, since the value for all other conditions point to delegation. For YPG the variable that seemed to heavily influence the decision to delegate was the strategic salience, since all other conditions would rather point to orchestration. These two cases would then make an interesting choice for a more single-case-oriented analysis and research design. Looking at these cases underlines that QCA in general stays very case oriented which helps to find out more atypical cases that may need further investigation. Looking at the Truth Table we can also see that there is still enough cross-condition diversity as well as enough variance (Rhioux and de Meur 2009). There are also no contradictions which would need to be solved first. In earlier versions of this Truth table there were some contradictions present but they were solved by re-evaluating thresholds and coding of the cases, which led to the operationalization, thresholds and coding that were already outlined in chapter C.III.⁸ Since there are no contradictions, enough variance and cross condition diversity as well as no counterintuitive configurations (Rhioux and de Meur 2009), the next step is the minimization process as well as the interpretation of results.

⁸ This contradiction was between Northern Alliance and UNITA, since I first coded goal convergence to be present for the Northern Alliance. After reviewing my coding for all cases I re-coded the Northern Alliance, since the U.S. supported them mainly because they were the only capable rebel group and not for their actual ideology (Peltier 2005).

III. Minimization and Results

For the following minimization of results Rhioux and de Meur (2009) propose that a minimization procedure should be run for each outcome, as QCA does not expect causal symmetry (Rhioux and de Meur 2009). Since the research question for this thesis is concerned with both delegation and orchestration this would have been done anyway. Analyses for both outcomes should also be run twice: once with logical remainders included and once without logical remainders included. Logical remainders are non-observed cases, that are logically possible from the coding of the variables. These can help to achieve a more parsimonious result, as they make it possible to express the results as part of a "broader zone". If logical remainders are included the software selects only those that are useful for obtaining a more minimal solution and makes simplifying assumption (Rhioux and de Meur 2009). So, they should only be used if their inclusion helps with obtaining a more parsimonious result.⁹ For now, I will start to run the minimization process first for delegation [0] and then for orchestration [1] to decide, whether including logical remainders is a viable option.

Delegation

Running the minimization process for the [0] outcome, without including logical remainders yields the following results: ¹⁰

act*conv*sal +	DIST * CONV * sal +	DIST * act
Chile+Northern	FDN+YPG	Chile+FDN+KLA+Libya
Alliance	I'DIN + I I'O	CIIIIC I'DIN KLA LIUya

All lower case letters correspond to a [0] coding in the truth table and capital letters correspond to a [1] coding in the truth table. Looking at this result shows that it is obviously not very parsimonious, since all proposed variables are present, and it is very long. So, it is a viable option to include logical remainders in the next round to see if this can make the result more parsimonious. But before that it might still be interesting to take a quick look at this first minimized formular: The three different combinations cover all six cases between them. The first one (*act*conv*sal*) corresponds to only two cases (Chile and Northern Alliance) and fits my theoretical expectations very well, as few actors, no goal convergence and a high saliency of the conflict correspond to the causal direction. As Chile is also covered by one other

⁹ For this analysis, a screenshot that visualizes the logical remainders that were included will be provided in Appendix F.

¹⁰ Screenshots of the TOSMANA Results for all minimization procedures will be included in the Appendix.

combination, only the Northern Alliance is fully represented by the first combination. The next two combinations show two interesting results. The second one (DIST*CONV*sal) – covering two cases – puts goal convergence and a high geographical proximity as well as a high saliency as sufficient conditions for delegation. The distance condition goes against my initial theoretical expectation, and thus will need further evaluation in the next section. The third combination (DIST*act) which is represented by four cases also puts geographical proximity as a sufficient condition for delegation. As this variable is included in two out of three combinations it seems to be quite important. Further evaluation of this will take place in the next section. For now, I will run a second analysis for the [0] outcome, this time *including* logical remainders. This yields the following results:

DIST * act +DIST * sal +act * convChile+FDN+KLA+LibyaChile+FDN+YPGChile+KLA+Northern Alliance

Including logical remainders, has indeed made the minimal formular more parsimonious. Of course, there are still three different combinations, which is not ideal but makes for a better formular than the previous one. This means that the next section will be dedicated to interpreting this formular and work out the causal mechanisms. But first, the [1] outcome for orchestration needs to be minimized.

Orchestration

The minimization process without logical remainders for the [1] outcome yields the following result

ACT * CONV * SAL +	dist * CONV +	dist * ACT
	(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat	(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat
(FAN+NDA/SPLA)	,KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Perm	,KPNLF+Hizb+JONDOL
	esta+UNITA)	LAH,MEK+NDA/SPLA)

In this combination all proposed variables are present, which shows rather limited parsimony. The first combination (ACT*COV*SAL) covers two cases and corresponds fully to my theoretical expectations: many actors, goal convergence and no salience led to orchestration. The other two combinations cover six (dist*COV) and seven (dist*ACT) cases, respectively. Both name a big geographical distance as a sufficient condition for orchestration, which goes against my initial theoretical expectation. But as this corresponds to the minimal formular obtained by minimizing the [0] outcome it is important to investigate this further. Another aspect that is visible here is that the last combination (dist*ACT) is the exact opposite of one combination in the minimized formular for delegation, which shows at least some causal symmetry. But since the above obtained minimal formular is still quite broad the next step will be running the same analysis with logical remainders included.

This leads to the following result:

dist * ACT +dist * CONV +ACT * SAL(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat,
(FAN+JONDOLLAH,MEK+NDA/S
PLA)(FAN+JONDOLLAH,MEK+NDA/S
PLA)

dist * CONV + ACT * conv + ACT * SAL (FUNCINPEC,Jamiat ,KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Perm esta+ UNITA)
(Hizb+JONDOLLAH,M (FAN+JONDOLLAH,MEK+NDA/S EK) PLA)

The software offered two different minimal formulars that both minimize the above mentioned one, which are both more parsimonious than before. To obtain only one, the researcher must now draw on their case-based knowledge to decide which one is the more viable option, as QCA is still very case-oriented (Berg-Schlosser et al 2009). To do that, the differing combinations are examined: dist*ACT, is the same one as mentioned above and covers seven out of the ten cases that were examined for orchestration. The second combination (ACT*conv) only covers three out of seven cases and all of those seven cases are also covered by the previous combination. Since the goal for a QCA is also to be able to have some modest generalizations (Berg-Schlosser et al 2009), choosing the combinations that covers more cases seems more viable. Therefore, the minimized formular for orchestration, that will be interpreted in the next section, is the following one:

dist * ACT +	dist * CONV +	ACT * SAL
(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat ,KPNLF+Hizb+JONDOLLAH, MEK+ NDA/SPLA)	(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat ,KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+ Permesta+ UNITA)	(FAN+JONDOLLAH,MEK+ NDA/SPLA)

IV. Interpretation of Results

This section will be dedicated to interpreting the obtained minimal formulas for each mode of indirect governance, delegation and orchestration. For some parts of the interpretation I drew on the guiding questions by Legewie (2013). First, I will look at the single combinations in each formular and examine the underlying causal mechanisms and then I will try to paint a broader picture to show which conditions may be more important than others in the big power's decision to delegate or orchestrate.

Delegation

The choice for delegation is represented by the following minimal formula:

DIST * act +	DIST * sal +	act * conv
Chile+FDN+KLA+Libya	Chile+FDN+YPG	Chile+KLA+Northern Alliance

Looking at this there are three different combinations that can either separately or in combination with each other lead to delegation. So, either being close and having few actors involved in the conflict or being close and the conflict being highly salient or having few actors and no goal convergence lead to delegation. As this is obviously still a very bulky answer, we will first look at each combination separately and then work out a broader answer. Surprisingly, the distance variable goes against the initial theoretical expectation.¹¹ Being geographically proximate is a sufficient condition in two out of three combinations, whereas I expected it to be the exact other way round when it comes to delegation. But this result still works with the general indirect governance theory, since it might also be easier to control a rebel group if it is geographically close which in turn makes delegation more likely.

Looking at the first combination $(DIST^*act)$ – which represents four out of the 6 cases that were examined for delegation – this mechanism becomes even clearer. The combination shows that

¹¹ This is already visible in Table 4 and Table 5 as most cases with a [0] outcome show [1] on the distance condition and are thus closer to the United States.

being geographically proximate and few actors involved in the conflict leads to delegation. As already mentioned, being close makes it easier and less costly to employ hard control mechanisms like training or indoctrination and it is also easier to send own military personnel to "check" on the rebels. Overall, being geographically proximate makes harder control mechanisms less costly than they would be in more distant settings. In Chile for example, military personnel were trained in the U.S. which made it easier to influence them at a later stage (Shiraz 2011), this training was less costly to realise due to the relative proximity of both states. The leaders of the Contras in Nicaragua also partly sought refuge in the U.S. and were in close contact with the CIA (Hoekstra 2021), which in turn led to U.S. officials telling them what to say during a press conference (Ibid). If this geographical proximity is combined with only few or even only one actor that poses a viable option, a state or a big power is basically forced to delegate as then, goal convergence also becomes less likely.

For the second combination (*DIST*sal*) being geographically close leads to the same causal mechanism as mentioned above but when combining it with a highly salient conflict another layer is added: On top of the fact that a big power does not want to lose a conflict to a different big power, a conflict that takes place in a neighbouring or close state becomes geographically salient as well, which heightens the security perception of said state. This makes using harder control mechanisms even more important and due to being geographically close they become less costly and thus easier to employ. Examples for this mechanism are once again the military coup in Chile and the Contras in Nicaragua. Both countries are geographically close to the U.S. and in both cases the rebel groups were fighting a Marxist government (Hoekstra 2021; Gustafson 2003) during the Cold War. The geographical proximity led to a heightened security perception by the U.S., as they did not want any Communist states who were supported by the Soviet Union or Cuba (Hoekstra 2021) in their imminent neighbourhood. This in turn made it more important for that the rebel group won the conflict and underlined the importance of hierarchical control mechanisms. Being close then made employing these control mechanisms less costly which is why the United States were delegating.

The last combination (*act*conv*) shows that few actors and low or non-existent goal convergence lead to delegation. This just underlines the general expectation of indirect governance theory (Abbot et al 2020a). Both variables in combination make softer control mechanisms and thus orchestration less viable for a big power, since they still want to achieve their interests. This does not work if they cannot rely on shared goals with the rebel group or if they cannot even find a group that has converging goals due to very little actors. This was the

case with the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan, the United States relied on them in their conflict with the Taliban not because of ideological convergence (the Northern Alliance was a group mostly made of similar ethnic groups with no real ideology) but because they were the only rebel group that had the military capacity to put up with the Taliban (Peceny and Bosin 2011). The lack of ideological goal convergence and the lack of actors made delegation the only viable option for the United States.

Looking at the minimal formula and the causal mechanisms that were just laid out for each combination it is visible that there are two variables that seem to be more important: geographical proximity and few actors.¹² They show up in all three combinations and combined they cover four out of six cases, the only case that is not covered by either of them is the Northern Alliance, but in this case a lot of American military personnel was present over the course of the conflict which could at least somewhat substitute a geographical proximity. This means that overall, the combination of geographical proximity and few actors have a huge impact on the decision to delegate as they make the employment of harder control mechanisms more important (due to few actors) but also less costly (due to geographic proximity). They are accompanied by a high salience and lack of goal convergence, which respectively reinforce their impacts, as was laid out above.

Orchestration

A big power's choice for orchestration is represented by the following formula:

dist * ACT +dist * CONV +ACT * SAL(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat
,KPNLF+Hizb+JONDOLLAH,M
EK+NDA/SPLA)(FUNCINPEC,Jamiat
,KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Per
mesta+UNITA)(FAN+JONDOLLAH,MEK
+NDA/SPLA)

Once again there are three separate combinations that explain the big power's decision to orchestrate. Either a high distance in combination with many actors and/or a high distance in combination with ideological goal convergence and/or many actors and a conflict with low salience lead to orchestration. Taking a first look shows us, that the first combination (dist*ACT) is the exact logical opposite of the first combination in the minimal formula for delegation and that goal convergence is only present in one combination, even though the theory

¹² Rhioux and de Meur (2009) underline the fact that one should not engage in an analysis of a causal mechanism for single conditions. But as these two conditions are sufficient and most likely more important than the others a tentative examination seems viable.

expects it to be a crucial factor in the decision on which mode of governance a big power will engage in. Instead, the number of actors and the geographical proximity are once again present in two out of three combinations respectively, their impact will be examined later. First, I will look at each combination separately and work out each causal mechanism to get a broader picture in the end.

The first combination (dist*ACT) shows that a big geographical distance and many actors involved in the conflict lead to orchestration. It represents seven out of the ten cases that were examined for orchestration. The distance variable also goes against the initial theoretical expectation, but as laid out above this mechanism still works within the theory for indirect governance (Abbot et al 2020a). If a big power is far away from the rebel group and the conflict, hard control mechanisms are a lot more costly than they would be if the conflict were closer. This means that it is also harder to send own military personnel or communicate with the rebel group, which in turn makes being in control over military missions very unlikely and costly. These costs can be reduced if aid is channelled through states that are neighbours to the conflict country, but this also means that being in control of the rebel group is less likely as well, which makes orchestration the only available mode of indirect governance. If this is paired with many actors involved in the conflict, there is even less of an incentive to use harder control mechanisms since the big power can credibly threaten to support a different group which keeps the current rebel group in line, and it is generally more likely that both share the same ideological goals which makes delegation unnecessary. So, due to many actors it is less urgent to use harder control mechanisms and due to being geographically close it is less viable to do so, which makes orchestration the better option for a big power. This was the case with the U.S. involvement in Cambodia in the 1980s. Since there were so many actors involved it was very easy for the U.S. to find groups that were pro-Western and democratic (KPNLF and FUNCINPEC) but since these groups were so far away the U.S. even channelled aid through Thailand as this was less costly and also meant that they didn't have to control these groups (Menon 1986).¹³ This same mechanism can be seen with the covert aid the U.S. gave to the Mujahedin in Afghanistan, as the Mujahedin was composed out of seven rebel groups it was easier to find a rebel group that had the same goals (Jamiat) but even if there was no goal convergence like with Hizb-i-Islami it should have been very easy to threaten to just support a different rebel group (Hughes 2008). An added bonus with this mechanism is the fact that many actors and a high geographical distance facilitate upholding plausible deniability, which made

¹³ Of course channelling through other countries also gives states and big powers a better plausible deniability but as this is also less costly one can argue that this also plays into that decision.

it easy for the U.S. to remain distant and vague concerning their support e.g., of the MEK in Iran (Piazza 1994).

The second combination (*dist*CONV*) shows that being geographically distant but having converging goals leads to orchestration. This is because the big geographical distance makes it more costly to use hard control mechanisms but if both big power and rebel group share the same goals there is less of a need to control the group since the state can be relatively sure the rebel group will act in line anyway. Goal convergence makes the already existing inability to control less relevant which in turn makes orchestration a better option. For example, the U.S. supported UNITA in Angola, because it was a very openly anti-Marxist group (Hoekstra 2018). This made the high distance between Angola and the United States less important since the U.S. could be sure UNITA would act in line due to their shared goals, hierarchical control mechanisms which would have been very costly anyway, became basically obsolete since the U.S. did not interfere with any niche skills (e.g. knowledge of local terrain and population) UNITA brought to the table.

The last combination (ACT*SAL) shows that many actors and a conflict that is not very salient lead to orchestration. If there are many actors a state is more likely to find an actor with converging goals and if this is combined with a less salient conflict a big power might be less inclined to use harder control mechanisms in the first place. If they then do not even have to engage in hard control mechanisms because there are other options (e.g. threats) to control the rebel group, the big power will engage in orchestration. This was the case with the NDA/SPLA in South Sudan during the Second Sudan Civil War. In the 1990s the U.S. did not have any big adversaries in the international system. This meant that the intervention in South Sudan did not pose a big risk to lose a strategically salient conflict, which made the use of harder and more costly control mechanisms less important. In addition, the Sudanese Civil War was composed of many actors who were also engaged in fights within each faction (Collins 2007). This also implies that it should have been very easy for the U.S. to threaten to support a different rebel group. Furthermore, the SPLM/A's programme for a new liberal civil government in a war zone was a very unique goal (Rolandsen 2005) and aligned very well with general U.S. goals of establishing democracy in a war ridden country. This meant that the unattractiveness of hard control mechanisms due to a low saliency of the conflict and many actors involved was only enforced by already existing goal convergence and the possibility of credible threats, which made orchestration the better option in that conflict.

In all three combinations either the distance variable, the actor variable or both are present. Both conditions are sufficient but not necessary and represent 11 out of the 16 cases that were examined. This shows their relative importance vis-à-vis the other variables. So, many actors involved in a conflict and a big geographical distance between big power and rebel group seem to be the most important factors when it comes to the decision on the mode of indirect governance. This corresponds to result that was gained for delegation, which is the exact logical opposite. Separately, the two variables make orchestration more costly (due to big geographical distance) and more effective (because there are credible threats possible with many actors) and in combination they reinforce their respective benefits as was already outlined for the causal mechanism of the first combination. They are then accompanied by a low salience and goal convergence which respectively have their own and combined impact on the decision to orchestrate. As already mentioned, this result is the exact causal opposite from the minimization formula for delegation which only reinforces the notion that the number of actors and/or the distance between big power and rebel group seem to be important for the decision on a mode of indirect governance. As we have now obtained a result for when big powers decide to delegate or orchestrate, the next section will re-evaluate the initial hypotheses and theory as well as look at the limits of the obtained result.

V. Implications and Limitations of Results

The now conducted csQCA resulted in a better understanding of when big powers delegate or orchestrate. But since QCA in general is iterative by nature and calls for a newer inductive theory after the analysis (Berg-Schlosser et al 2009; Rhioux and de Meur 2009), the following section will evaluate the hypotheses and conditions that were posed at the beginning of this thesis. H1 theorized that a big power is more likely to orchestrate if the rebel group was geographically proximate. The underlying mechanism this was supposed to measure was the "shadow of hierarchy" as a rebel group might then follow orders without hard control mechanisms because a big power could issue credible threats. This hypothesis did not hold, instead we saw the exact opposite mechanism of the one that was theorised: if a rebel group was far away from the United States it was orchestrating. One could thus argue that the shadow of hierarchy does not have any influence on the mode of indirect governance and distance purely leads to a cost-benefit analysis on the big power's side. An alternative explanation could argue that this hypothesis did not hold due to the operationalization that was used in this thesis. There may be better ways to measure the presence or absence of a "shadow of hierarchy", as this has

a lot to do with perception on the part of the rebel group which is hard to measure with absolute numeric values like the distance in kilometres. Still, this analysis has shown that merely being geographically distant is more likely to lead to orchestration than delegation. Due to the high importance of the distance variable, it is important to mention that the threshold that was chosen for this condition is not ideal, since it is not at a very clear natural gap in the data, so a different threshold may lead to other results. But this does not change the validity of the argument that a high geographical distance means that engaging in hierarchical control mechanisms becomes a lot more costly for a state and that there is a possibility of them not being as effective due to the big distance. If this is combined with any of the other conditions proposed, it is very unlikely that the big power will use these hard control mechanisms.

All other hypotheses worked exactly the way they were theorised, which shows that the initial theoretical expectations were mostly valid and good at explaining when big powers decide to delegate or orchestrate. Still, these results are only modestly generalizable due to the nature of QCA (Berg-Schlosser et al 2009) since it is still a very case-oriented and qualitative method. The obtained combinations can explain all of the 16 cases that were examined and is thus generalisable for those cases. This would not have been possible in a mere case-comparison. The case selection also makes the results obtained through this csQCA somewhat generalisable for cases beyond the ones that were examined. The variance across time and location shows that the obtained explanation can be used for a broad variance of cases with different external circumstances. This makes a good argument that other cases that were not included may also be explained by the formulas that were obtained.

For now, it is definitely viable to say that being far away in combination with many actors or goal convergence and/or many actors and a low saliency lead to *orchestration*. Being close in combination with a high saliency or few actors or low goal convergence and few actors lead to *delegation*. To get clearer and more parsimonious results, future analyses could include more cases on delegation, as these cases were very spread out and it was not possible to group them in a truth table. Due to time constraints and the lack of qualitative data this was not possible for this thesis but could be a viable option for future research. It would also be interesting to run a similar comparative research design with different variables, since there may also be other factors that influence the decision to delegate or orchestrate. During the case-oriented research I noticed several factors that may be interesting to include: Most rebel groups were not supported by the U.S. alone, and sometimes the other state engaged in more strict control mechanisms or gave a lot more financial aid than the U.S. Examples would be UNIITA or the

KPNLF (Hoekstra 2021; Menon 1986). In other cases, the rebel groups or their supporters were explicitly lobbying in the U.S. to acquire financial or military aid (Hamilton 2012; Hoekstra 2018). Previous military involvement in a state may also influence whether a big power orchestrates or delegates, since there may already be ties established which could lead to mutual trust or familiarity, making orchestration more likely. Analysing these potential variables did go over the limits of this Bachelor Thesis and would not have been a viable option, since the inclusion of more variables would have made the result even less parsimonious. Still, the analysis in this thesis led to explanations of when big powers decide to orchestrate or delegate and is modestly generalisable.

E Conclusion

The goal of this Bachelor thesis was to find out when big powers delegate or orchestrate, as existing theories on indirect warfare and indirect governance expect big powers to mostly delegate. As we see empirical variance instead, this thesis was set out to solve that empirical puzzle. By conducting a crisp-set Qualitative Comparative analysis the goal was to find out necessary and sufficient conditions for a big power's decision on each mode of governance. While it was not possible to obtain fully necessary conditions for each mode of indirect governance, the conducted csQCA still made it possible to find sufficient conditions for the decision on the respective modes of governance and showed which conditions are more important than others when it comes to big power's decision on which mode to employ. The minimized formula for delegation shows that a state chooses to *delegate* if the rebel group is close and there are few actors involved in the conflict or the conflict is highly salient and/or if there is no goal convergence and few actors. Orchestration occurs if the rebel group is far away in combination with many actors or goal convergence or if there are many actors involved in the conflict and it is not very salient. The two conditions that have the largest impact on the mode of indirect governance are thus the number of actors involved in a conflict and the geographical distance between the rebel group and the big power. Overall, the outcome of 11 out of the 16 cases that were examined can be explained by the combination of geographical distance between big power and rebel group and the number of actors involved in the conflict. The hypotheses and the subsequent csQCA was able to further develop the insights gained by the literature on Indirect Warfare and Indirect Governance Theory, by adding more theoretical depth and a more nuanced understanding on how different variables influence the degree of control a big power exercises over a rebel group. It reveals that not only one condition is relevant for the decision on a certain mode of governance but rather different conditions in
combination with each other. Furthermore, the result also shows, that orchestration in many cases is a choice that may not only be based on goal convergence but also on reduced costs. As the United States can undoubtedly be considered a big power these results can justify a modest generalization beyond the cases that were examined and beyond the U.S. as the delegating or orchestrating big power. Engaging in indirect warfare is not specific to the United States and the results obtained in this thesis can (tentatively) be applied to other big powers as well.

Future research could engage in more case-oriented research to work out the causal mechanisms in specific cases where one condition seemed to have a bigger impact than others (e.g. the YPG or UNITA) as already pointed out in the descriptive analysis of Table 4. Another path for future research would be to include the above-mentioned alternative conditions that may also be relevant for the decision to delegate or orchestrate.

Indirect Warfare was the source of the conflict in Ukraine we are witnessing right now. The support for separatist groups by the Russian Federation is only one example for this mode of warfare that has been and will be relevant in the future. The 16 cases examined in this thesis represent only a fraction of the rebel groups supported by states and big powers (especially the United States) all over the world. The armed conflicts these rebel groups and states are involved in pose real security risks for all the civilians that are affected by human rights abuses and the violation of international law. These unjustifiable violations are visible in Europe today but have been ongoing in every part of the world. Understanding why and when big powers chose to wage war indirectly and how much control they use thus also has direct implications for the security of countless civilians all over the world.

F Bibliography

Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel, Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (2015) Orchestration. Global Governance through intermediaries. In: Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (Eds.) International Organizations as Orchestrators, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. 3-36.

Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (2015) Two Logics of Indirect Governance. Delegation and Orchestration. British Journal Political Science 46. 719-729.

Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (2020) The Governor's Dilemma. Indirect Governance Beyond Principals and Agents. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (2020) Competence-Control Theory. The Challenge of Governing through Intermediaries. In: Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel, Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (Eds) The Governor's Dilemma. Indirect Governance Beyond Principals and Agents. Oxford, Oxford University Press. 3-36.

ABC News Investigative Unit (2007) ABC News Exclusive: The Secret War Against Iran. ABCNews,April3rd2007.Availableat:https://abcnews.go.com/International/BrianRoss/story?id=3005193&page=1.

Alexiev, Alexander (1988) The United States and The War in Afghanistan. RAND Corporation. 1-20.

Apuzzo, Matt; Mazetti, Mark (2016) U.S: Relies Heavily on Saudi Money to Support Syrian Rebels. In: New York Times, January 23rd 2016. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/24/world/middleeast/us-relies-heavily-on-saudi-money-to-support-syrian-rebels.html.

Asgharirad, Javad (2012) U.S. Public Diplomacy Towards Iran During the George W. Bush Era. PhD Dissertation Freie Universität Berlin.

Babcock, Charles R; Woodward, Bob; Feinman, Barabara (1985) CIA Covertly Aiding Pro-West Cambodians. In: Washington Post, 8th July 1985. Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/politics/1985/07/08/cia-covertly-aiding-pro-westcambodians/819db513-b2a7-4518-9d69-1efa0b46381c/. Bardos, Gordon N. (2002) Balkan Blowback? Osama bin Laden and Southeastern Europe. Mediterranean Quarterly 13(1). 44-53. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1215/10474552-13-1-44.

Bapat, Navin A. (2011) Understanding State Sponsorship of Militant Groups. British Journal Political Science 42. 1-29. DOI: 10.1017/S000712341100007X.

BBC (2017) Syria war: A brief guide to who's fighting whom. BBC, April 7th 2017. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-39528673.

Beardsley, Kyle; Skrede Gleditsch, Kristian (2004) Nosy Neighbours. Third-Party Actors in Central American Conflicts. Journal of Conflict Resolution 48(3) 379-402. DOI: 10.1177/0022002704263710.

Beaumont, Peter; Vullliamy, Ed; Beaver, Paul (2001) CIA's bastard army ran riot in Balkans' backed extremists. In: The Guardian, March 11th. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2001/mar/11/edvulliamy.peterbeaumont.

Berg-Schlosser, D; Meur, G; Rihoux, B; Ragin, C. (2009) Qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) as an approach. In: Ragin, Charles C; Rhioux, Benoit (Eds) Configurational comparative methods: Qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) and related techniques. SAGE Publications, Inc. 1-18. DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781452226569.

Bosin, Yury and Peceny, Mark (2011) Winning with warlords in Afghanistan. Small Wars & Insurgencies 22(4). 603-618.

Brown, Michael; Dawod, Mohammad; Irantalab, Arash; Naqi, Mahmud (2012) Balochistan Case Study In: INAF 5493-S: Ethnic Conflict: Causes, Consequences and Management. 1-15.

Byman, Daniel (2013) Outside Support for Insurgent Movements. In: Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 36(12). 981-1004. DOI: 10.1080/1057610X.2013.842132.

Byman, Daniel; Kreps, Sarah E. (2010) Agents of Destruction? Applying Principal-Agent Analysis to State-Sponsored Terrorism. International Studies Perspectives 11. 1-18.

CBS (2001) U.S. And N.Alliance Join Forces. CBS, October 15th 2001. Available at: https://www.cbsnews.com/news/us-and-n-alliance-join-forces/.

Cohen, Ariel (2001) Post-War Central Asia: A Complex Matrix. Eurasianet, October 23rd 2001. Available at: https://eurasianet.org/post-war-central-asia-a-complex-matrix.

Cohen, Ronen (2018) The Mojahedin-e-Khalq versus the Islamic Republic of Iran: from war to propaganda and the war on propaganda and Diplomacy. Middle Eastern Studies 54(6). 1000-1014. DOI: 10.1080/00263206.2018.1478813.

Coll, Steve (2004). Ghost Wars: The Secret History of the CIA, Afghanistan, and Bin Laden, from the Soviet Invasion to September 10, 2001. Penguin Group, New York.

Collins, Robert (2007) Civil Wars in the Sudan. History Compass 5 (6). 1778-1805.

Craig, Larr E. (1999) The Kosovo Liberation Army: Does Clinton Policy Support Group with Terror, Drug Ties? From 'Terrorists' to 'Partners'. United States Senate Republican Policy Committee, March 31st 1999. Available at: https://irp.fas.org/world/para/docs/fr033199.htm.

Cronqvist, Lasse (2019) QCA Add-In. Version 1.1. Trier, 22.02.2019. https://www.qca-addin.net.

Cronqvist, Lasse (2019) Tosmana [Version 1.61]. University of Trier. Available at: https://www.tosmana.net.

Cunningham David E; Skrede Gleditsch Kristian; Salehyan Idean (2013) Non-state actors in civil wars: A new dataset. Conflict Management and Peace Science 30 (5). 516-531.

Emadi, H. (2012) Libya: The road to regime change. Global Dialogue 14(2). 127-133. Available at: https://ezp.lib.cam.ac.uk/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/libya-road-regime-change/docview/1171852406/se-2?accountid=9851.

Ergun, D. (2018). External Actors and VNSAs: An Analysis of the United States, Russia, ISIS, and PYD/YPG. In: Oktav, Ö.; Parlar Dal, E.; Kurşun, A. (Eds) Violent Non-state Actors and the Syrian Civil War. Cham, Springer. 149-172. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67528 2_8.

Flynn, Mollie (2014) Peace Profile: Salvador Allende. Peace Review: A Journal of Social Justice (26). 281-286. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10402659.2014.876332 .

Fumerton, Mario; van Wilgenburg, Wladimir (2022) From the PYD-YPG to the SDF: the Consolidation of Power in Kurdish-Controlled Northeast Syria. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism. 1-20. DOI: 10.1080/1057610X.2021.2013758.

Giroux, Jennifer; Lanz, David; Sguaitamatti, Damiano (2009) The Tormented Triangle: The Regionalisation of Conflict in Sudan, Chad and the Central African Republic. Crisis States Working Papers Series No. 2, Center for Security Studies.

Goulka, Jeremiah; Hansell, Lydia; Wilke, Elizabeth; Larson, Judith. (2009) The Mujahedin-e-Khalq in Iraq. A Policy Conundrum. National Defence Research Institute.

Gustafson, Kristian C (2003) CIA Machinations in Chile in 1970 – Reexamining the Record. Studies in Intelligence 47 (3).

Hamilton, Rebecca (2011) U.S. Played A Key Role in Southern Sudan's Long Journey to Independence. In: The Atlantic, July 9th 2011. Available at: https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2011/07/us-played-key-role-in-southern-sudans-long-journey-to-independence/241660/.

Hamilton, Rebecca (2012) Special Report: The wonks who sold Washington on South Sudan. Reuters, July 11th 2012. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-south-sudan-midwives-idUSBRE86A0GC20120711.

Heinkelmann-Wild, Tim; Mehrl, Marius (2022) Indirect Governance at War: Delegation and Orchestration in Rebel Support. Journal of Conflict Resolution 66 (1). 115-143.

Héritier, Adrienne; Lehmkuhl, Dirk (2008) Introduction. The Shadow of Hierarchy and New Modes of Governance. Journal of Public Policy 28 (1). 1-17.

Hersh, Seymour (1974) C.I.A Is Linked to Strikes In Chile That Best Allende. In: New York Times, September 20th 1974. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/1974/09/20/archives/cia-is-linked-to-strikes-in-chile-that-beset-allende-intelligence.html.

Hersh, Seymour M. (2008) Preparing the Battlefield. The Bush Administration steps up its secret moves against Iran. In: The New Yorker, Annaly of National Security, July 7th 2008. Available at: https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2008/07/07/preparing-the-battlefield.

Hoekstra, Quint (2018) The effect of foreign state support to UNITA during the Angolan War (1975-1991). Small Wars & Insurgencies 29 (5). 981-1005.

Hoekstra, Quint (2021) Helping the Contras: The Effectiveness of U.S. Support for Foreign Rebels during the Nicaraguan Contra War (1979–1990). Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 44 (6). 521-41. Doi: 10.1080/1057610X.2019.1568004.

Högbladh, Stina; Pettersson, Therése; Themnér, Lotta (2011) External Support in Armed Conflict 1975–2009. Presenting new data. Paper presented at the 52nd Annual International Studies Association Convention, Montreal, Canada, 16-19 March 2011.

Hosenball, Mark (2011) Exclusive: Obama authorizes secret help for Libya rebels. Reuters, March 30th 2011. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-libya-usa-order-idUSTRE72T6H220110330.

Hughes, Geraint (2008) The Soviet-Afghan War, 1979-1989: An Overview. Defence Studies 8(3). 326-350. DOI: 10.1080/14702430802252511.

Itani, Faysal (2017) The End of American Support for Syrian Rebels Was Inevitable. In: The
Atlantic, July 21st 2017. Available at:
https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2017/07/trump-syria-assad-rebels-putin-
cia/534540/.

Kelley, Michael P. (1985) Weak States and Captured Patrons. French desire to disengage from Chad. The Round Table 74(296). 328-338. DOI: 10.1080/00358538508453719.

Khalaji, Mehdi (2008) U.S. Support for the Iranian Opposition. The Washington Institute forNearEastPolicy,July9th2007.Availableat:https://ciaotest.cc.columbia.edu/pbei/winep/0002208/f_0002208_1317.pdf_

Lake, David A (2016) The Statebuilder's Dilemma. On the Limits of Foreign Intervention. Cornell University Press, Ithaca New York.

Legewie, Nicolas (2013) An Introduction to Applied Data Analysis with Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA). Forum: Qualitative Social Research 14(3).

Mann, Jim (1994) CIA's Covert Indonesia Operation in the 1950s Acknowledged by U.S: Cold War: State Department publishes unprecedented 600-page history documenting anti-Communist program. In: Los Angeles Times, October 29th 1994. Available at: https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-1994-10-29-mn-56121-story.html.

Maoz, Zeev; San-Akca Belgin (2012) Rivalry and State Support of Non-State Armed Groups (NAGs), 1946-2001. International Studies Quarterly 56. 720-734.

Masters, Jonathan (2014). Mujahedeen-e-Khalq (MEK). Council on Foreign Relations, July 28th 2014. Available at: http://www.cfr.org/iran/mujahadeen-e-khalq-mek/p9158_

May, Roy (1988) Internal Dimensions of Warfare in Chad. The Cambridge Journal of Anthropology. 13(2) Special Issue: Local Warfare in Africa. 17-27.

Mearsheimer, John J. (2001) The Tragedy of Great Power Politics. New York, WW Norton Co.

Menon, K.U. (1986) The Paralysis of Power: The United States and Cambodia. Contemporary Southeast Asia 7 (4). 268-276.

Meteltis, Claire (2004) Reformed rebels? Democratization, global norms, and the Sudan People's Liberation Army. Africa Today 51(1). 65-82.

Minter, William (1991) The US and the war in Angola. Review of African Political Economy 18(50). 135-144. DOI: 10.1080/03056249108703896.

Myre, Greg (2014) When the U.S. Backs rebels, It Doesn't Often Go as Planned. NPR, September 20th 2014. Available at: https://text.npr.org/349549267.

Peltier, Isaac J. (2005) Surrogate Warfare: The Role of the U.S. Army Special Forces. U.S. Army.

Perry, Mark (2012) False Flag. In: Foreign Policy, January 13th 2012. Available at: https://foreignpolicy.com/2012/01/13/false-flag/_

Piazza, James A. (1994) The Democratic Islamic Republic of Iran in Exile. The Mojahedine.Khalq and its Struggle for Survival. Digest of Middle East Studies. 9-43.

Reuters (2009). Iran Rebel, on death row, says US supported group. Reuters, August 25th 2009. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/idUSLP446118_

Rihoux, B; Meur, G. (2009) Crisp-set qualitative comparative analysis (csQCA). In: Ragin, Charles C; Rhioux, Benoit (Eds) Configurational comparative methods: Qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) and related techniques. SAGE Publications, Inc. 33-68. DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781452226569.

Rolandsen, Øystein H. (2005) Guerilla Government. Political Changes in the Southern Sudan during the 1990s. Nordiska Afrikainstitutet.

Salehyan, Idean. (2010) The Delegation of War to Rebel Organizations. Journal of Conflict Resolution 54(3). 493-515.

Salehyan, Idean; Siroky, David; Wood, Reed M. (2014) External Rebel Sponsorship and Civilian Abuse: A Principal-Agent Analysis of Wartime Atrocities. International Organization 68. 633-661.

Salehyan, Idean; Skrede Gleditsch, Kristian; Cunningham David E (2011) Explaining External Support for Insurgent Groups. International Organization 65. 709-744.

San-Akca, Belgin (2009) Supporting Non-State Armed Groups: A Resort to Illegality? Journal of Strategic Studies 32 (4). 589-613. DOI: 10.1080/01402390902987012

San-Akca, Belgin (2016) States in Disguise: Causes of External State Support for Rebel Groups. New York, Oxford University Press.

Schaller, Christian (2016) Siding with Rebels: Recognition of Opposition Groups and the Provision of Military Assistance in Libya and Syria (2011-2014). In: Heintze, Hans-Joachim; Thielbörger, Pierre (Eds) From Cold War to Cyber War. The Evolution of the International Law of Peace and Armed Conflict over the last 25 Years. Cham, Springer. 251-263.

Sherwood, Harriet (2011) Libya rebels to get \$25m of US military equipment under Pentagon proposal. In: The Guardian, April 20th 2011. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2011/apr/20/libya-rebels-us-military-equipment-non-lethal.

Shiraz, Zakira (2011) Review Essay. CIA Intervention in Chile and the Fall of the Allende Government in 1973. Journal of American Studies 45 (3). 603-613.

Tamm, Henning (2020) The Invader's Dilemma. Enlisting Rebel Groups. In: Abbot, Kenneth W; Genschel, Philipp; Snidal, Duncan; Zangl, Bernhard (Eds.) The Governor's Dilemma. Indirect Governance Beyond Principals and Agents. Oxford, Oxford University Press. 119-136.

Teik Sooon, Lao (1982) ASEAN and the Cambodian Problem. Southeast Asia: Perspectives from ASEAN 22(6). 548-560.

The Associated Press (2021) Iran anger at US, European support for opposition group. ABC News, July 11th 2021. Available at: https://abcnews.go.com/International/wireStory/iran-anger-us-european-support-opposition-group-78780848

McMahon, Robert J. (Ed) (1994) United States of America – Department of State, Office of the Historian (1994) Foreign Relations of the United States, 1958-1960, Indonesia. Volume XVII.

Webber, Mark (2009) The Kosovo War: a recapitulation. International Affairs 85(3). 447-459.

Wright, George V (1989) US foreign policy and destabilisation in Southern Africa. Review of African Political Economy 16 (45). 159-168. DOI: 10.1080/03056248908703837

G Appendix

Appendix A: TOSMANA Output (Cronqvist 2019b) for [0] outcome without logical

remainders

Settings:
Minimizing: 0
including:

Truth-Table:

CASEID	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	INDGOV
Northern Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
UNITA	0	0	1	0	1
Permesta	0	0	1	1	1
Hizb	0	1	0	0	1
JONDOLLAH, MEK	0	1	0	1	1
FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF	0	1	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	0	1	1	1	1
Chile	1	0	0	0	0
KLA	1	0	0	1	0
FDN	1	0	1	0	0
Libya	1	0	1	1	0
YPG	1	1	1	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1

Result(s):

DIST * act +	act * conv * sal +	DIST * CONV * sal
(Chile+FDN+KLA+Libya)	(Chile+Northern Alliance)	(FDN+YPG)

Created with Tosmana Version 1.61

Appendix B: TOSMANA Output (Cronqvist 2019b) for [0] outcome including logical

remainders

S	e	tt	in	a	s:
-	-			э	

Minimizing: 0 including: R

Truth-Table:

CASEID	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	INDGOV
Northern Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
UNITA	0	0	1	0	1
Permesta	0	0	1	1	1
Hizb	0	1	0	0	1
JONDOLLAH, MEK	0	1	0	1	1
FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF	0	1	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	0	1	1	1	1
Chile	1	0	0	0	0
KLA	1	0	0	1	0
FDN	1	0	1	0	0
Libya	1	0	1	1	0
YPG	1	1	1	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1

Result(s):

DIST * act +	DIST * sal +	act * conv
(Chile+FDN+KLA+Libya)	(Chile+FDN+YPG)	(Chile+KLA+Northern Alliance)

Created with Tosmana Version 1.61

Appendix C: TOSMANA Output (Cronqvist 2019b) for [1] outcome without logical

remainders

Settings:	
Minimizing: 1	
including:	

Truth-Table:

CASEID	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	INDGOV
Northern Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
UNITA	0	0	1	0	1
Permesta	0	0	1	1	1
Hizb	0	1	0	0	1
JONDOLLAH, MEK	0	1	0	1	1
FUNCINPEC, Jamiat, KPNL	0	1	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	0	1	1	1	1
Chile	1	0	0	0	0
KLA	1	0	0	1	0
FDN	1	0	1	0	0
Libya	1	0	1	1	0
YPG	1	1	1	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1

Result(s):

dist * ACT +	dist * CONV +	ACT * CONV * SAL
(FUNCINPEC, Jamiat, KPNLF+Hizb+JONDOLLAH, MEK+NDA/SPLA)	(FUNCINPEC, Jamiat, KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Permesta+UNITA)	(FAN+NDA/SPLA)

Created with Tosmana Version 1.61

Appendix D: TOSMANA Output (Cronqvist 2019b) for [1] outcome including logical

remainders

Settings:

Minimizing: 1 including: R

Truth-Table:

CASEID	DIST	ACT	CONV	SAL	INDGOV
Northern Alliance	0	0	0	0	0
UNITA	0	0	1	0	1
Permesta	0	0	1	1	1
Hizb	0	1	0	0	1
JONDOLLAH, MEK	0	1	0	1	1
FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF	0	1	1	0	1
NDA/SPLA	0	1	1	1	1
Chile	1	0	0	0	0
KLA	1	0	0	1	0
FDN	1	0	1	0	0
Libya	1	0	1	1	0
YPĠ	1	1	1	0	0
FAN	1	1	1	1	1

Result(s):

dist * ACT + ACT * SAL (FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF+Hizb+JONDOLLAH, MEK+NDA/SPLA) (FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Permesta+UNITA) (FAN+JONDOLLAH, MEK+NDA/SPLA)

dist * CONV + ACT * conv + ACT * SAL (FUNCINPEC, Jamiat , KPNLF+NDA/SPLA+Permesta+UNITA) (Hizb+JONDOLLAH, MEK) (FAN+JONDOLLAH, MEK+NDA/SPLA) Appendix E: Visualization of Results, shows the logical remainders that were included (white background) (Cornqvist 2019b).



Green: Orchestration; Red: Delegation